
 

 

COMMONS REGISTRATION COMMITTEE 
Agenda 
 
Date Monday 10 June 2013 

 
Time 6.00 pm 

 
Venue Lees Suite, Civic Centre, Oldham, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1NL 

 
Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires any advice on 
any item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect 
his/her ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul 
Entwistle or Christine Chester in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this Agenda is Christine Chester Tel. 0161 770 
5151 or email  Christine.chester@oldham.gov.uk 
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - Any member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the contact officer by 12 noon, Wednesday, 5th 
June 2013. 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMONS REGISTRATION COMMITTEE IS AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 Councillors Battye, Blyth, J Dillon, Harrison, Houle and Larkin 
 

 

Item No  

1   Election of Chair  

 The Panel is asked to elect a Chair for the duration of the meeting. 

2   Apologies For Absence  

3   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

4   Declarations of Interest  

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

5   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

6   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 2) 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 The Minutes of the Commons Registration Committee held on 31st March 2010 
are attached for approval. 

7   Application to Register a Village Green - Diggle Village Green (Pages 3 - 10) 

 The purpose of the meeting is to agree a process for determining an application 
to register a village green in Diggle in accordance with the statutory procedures. 
 

 



COMMONS REGISTRATION COMMITTEE 

31/03/2010 at 17:00 

 

PRESENT  Councillors Ball, Hindle, Lord, Martin and G Shaw 

Also present: 

Dan Carlsson-Hyslop - Deputy Head of Constitutional 
Services  

Alan Evans - Group Solicitor 

Mr John Arnold (applicant) 

 

 

Item 2 URGENT BUSINESS 

There was no urgent business. 

 

 

Item 3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest. 

 

 

Item 4 ELECTION OF CHAIR 

RESOLVED 

1. Councillor Lord be elected chair for this meeting. 

10030150 

 

Item 5 MINUTES OF THE COMMONS REGISTRATION 

COMMITTEE HELD ON 19 MAY 2009 

RESOLVED 

1. The minutes of the meeting held on 19 May 2009 be 
approved as a correct record. 

10030157 

 

Item 6 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

There were no questions from members of the public. 

 

 

Item 7 APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND NORTH OF 

CHADDERTON FIRE STATION, BROADWAY, 

CHADDERTON AS A TOWN GREEN 

The Committee considered the report of the Borough 
Solicitor, which set out the recommendation of an 
independent inspector in relation to the application for 
town green status for land north of Chadderton Fire 
Station, Broadway, Chadderton. For the application to 
be granted, several legal tests set out in section 22 of 
the Commons Registration Act 1965 needed to be 
passed, with the burden of proof on the applicant.  

The application had been received in November 2002 
and was advertised in accordance with statutory 
procedures. An objection was received from Oldham 
Council, as landowner and sent to the applicant for his 
comments or representations. 

In 1994 the Council had bought the land as public open 
space. This meant its use had been by permission 
since. The Committee could only consider the use of 

10030158 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



the land in the 20 years immediately prior to the date of 
the application and as this had been by permission 
rather than as of right since at least 1994, the 
application failed to meet the statutory test contained in 
section 13 of the Commons Registration Act 1965.  

The Committee heard representations from the 
applicant.  

RESOLVED 

1. The application be refused and the land north of 
Chadderton Fire Station, Broadway, Chadderton not be 
registered as a town or village green.  

 

The meeting started at 5.00pm and ended at 5.15pm. 

 

 

Page 2



 

 

 
 
 
COMMONS REGISTRATION COMMITTEE  
10 JUNE 2013  
 

APPLICATION TO REGISTER A VILLAGE 

GREEN – DIGGLE VILLAGE GREEN 
 

Report of Paul Entwistle, Borough Solicitor 
 

Officer Contact: Alan Evans, Group Solicitor (Environment) 
Ext. 3019 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
Members are asked to agree a process for determining an application to register a 
village green in Diggle in accordance with the statutory procedures. 
 
Recommendations 
It is recommended that: 
 
1. The application to register a village green in Diggle be determined by the Commons 

Registration Committee without convening a non statutory public enquiry to 
consider the application; 

2. The additional evidence submitted by the objector (First Choice Homes Oldham 
Limited) be considered as part of the objection to the application; 

3. The application be considered on the basis of the amended plan submitted by the 
applicant showing the extent of the land claimed to be a village green; 

4. The process for the consideration of the application be as set out in Appendix 1 to 
the report; 

5. The Borough Solicitor be given delegated authority to determine any legal or 
procedural issues raised by either the applicant or the objector prior to the 
committee meeting which will determine the application 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 3



Page 2 of 6 Application to register a village green – Diggle village green 10 June 2013 

Commons Registration Committee  
Application to Register a Village Green – Diggle Village Green 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The Council is the commons registration authority for the Borough of Oldham 

and is responsible for determining any applications to register a town or 
village green within the Borough.  The Council has established the Commons 
Registration Committee which has delegated authority to determine such 
applications.   

 
1.2 Any application to register land as a town or village green must be determined 

in accordance with the provisions of the Commons Act 2006 and the 
Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim Arrangements) 
(England) Regulations 2007 (“the Regulations”). The Act and Regulations set 
out a general procedure to be followed in determining applications but do not 
give any detail as to how the Commons Registration Authority should carry 
out this process.  

 
1.3 In recent years the Council has determined a number of applications to 

register areas of land as town or village greens within the Borough.  However, 
these applications were predominantly in respect of land owned by the 
Council and it was the main objector to the applications.  As a result, due to 
the potential conflict of interest where the Council was both the objector as 
well as the determining body, the procedure adopted by the Council was to 
convene a non statutory public enquiry conducted by an independent barrister 
who prepared a report making a recommendation to the Commons 
Registration Committee, which made the final decision. 

 
1.4 On 8 January 2013, the Council received an application to register land as a 

village green at the centre of Diggle village lying to the west of Huddersfield 
Road and bordered by Spurn Lane to the north and west and Moor Crescent 
to the south.  A plan showing the location of the land claimed as a village 
green is annexed to this report as Appendix 2.  The land is owned by First 
Choice Homes Oldham Limited (“FCHO”) and forms part of a former local 
authority housing estate. The application was submitted by Dr Nicholas Cox 
and was supported by 58 signed user evidence forms alleging use of the land 
as of right for indulgence in lawful sports and pastimes.  

 
1.5 The application was made under section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006.  

Section 15(2) applies where a significant number of the inhabitants of any 
locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years and they 
continue to do so at the time of the application.  The onus of proof lies on the 
applicant who must prove his case meets all the requirements of section 15(2) 
on the balance of probabilities.   

       
1.6 In accordance with the Regulations, the application was advertised and one 

objection was received before the closing date for objections (18 March), from 
the landowner FCHO. The objector has requested permission to submit 

Page 4



Page 3 of 6 Application to register a village green – Diggle village green 10 June 2013 

evidence relating to maintenance of the land in support of its objection to the 
application. The Regulations give the Council discretion to consider any 
written statement which it receives after the closing date for objections and 
before it finally disposes of the application.  The Regulations also require the 
Council to send any objections it receives to the applicant to consider.  
Provided a reasonable time period is given to the applicant to consider this 
additional evidence, it is considered that no prejudice is likely to be caused to 
the applicant in permitting the objector to submit additional evidence in 
support of its objection after the closing date for objections and it is 
recommended that approval be given to this request. 

 
1.7 The objector has pointed out in its objection that the land to be claimed as a 

village green also includes a strip of land within the ownership of one of the 
properties on Spurn Lane, who have not been notified of the application. The 
applicant has since confirmed to the Council that his application was intended 
to only apply to land owned by FCHO and he requested that the plan showing 
the extent of the land to be registered be amended to remove the land owned 
by the adjoining land owners from his application. Regulation 6(4) of the 
Regulations allows the registration authority to give the applicant a reasonable 
opportunity of dealing with any matters in relation to the application which 
appear to the authority to afford possible grounds for rejecting the application. 
In this case none of the 58 user evidence forms submitted in support of the 
application refer to use of the land not owned by FCHO.  Therefore the 
application is likely to fail in respect of that area of land, as no evidence of its 
use for lawful sports and pastimes has been produced.  As a result it is 
considered expedient to allow the applicant to rectify this error by submitting 
an amended plan with this area of land removed and that the application be 
determined on the basis of the amended plan, a copy of which is annexed to 
this report as Appendix 3.  

 
1.8 The objector raises a number of grounds for objection to the application but 

accepts that the usage of the land for recreational activities has occurred for 
more than 20 years. The grounds of objection are that the land has not been 
used by a significant number of persons, the applicant has not identified a 
cohesive entity that would be understood by those living in the area as their 
neighbourhood and the usage of the land has not been “as of right” but rather 
has been “by right” i.e. with the permission of the landowner.  It is considered 
that these objections can be determined by the Commons Registration 
Committee without the need for a non statutory public enquiry. 

 
1.9 The applicant has objected to the proposal for the Committee to determine the 

application.  In an email to the Council of 6 May 2013 he stated: 
  
 “My understanding is that it is regarded as good practice for the 

Registration Authority to hold a non-statutory inquiry in circumstances 
where it is implicated in a contested application.  Having granted planning 
permission to First Choice Homes Oldham to develop the site Oldham 
Metropolitan Borough Council are effectively active sponsors of the 
scheme to develop the site.  In his Officer's Report, Mr Leigh, the planning 
officer dealing with the application, argued that 'the loss of open space' 

Page 5



Page 4 of 6 Application to register a village green – Diggle village green 10 June 2013 

occasioned by development of the land in question would be permitted 
under Policy 23 of the Council's DPD because, although the land was a 
green-field site and open space, the proposal to build on the site could be 
deemed to 'relate to a programme, strategy or action approved by the 
Council'.  He specifically notes that 'the transfer of land from the Council to 
First Choice Homes was aimed to support the delivery of affordable homes 
in the borough' and as such constitutes such a 'programme, strategy or 
action plan approved by the Council'.   

  
 According to Mr Leigh's Report, then, First Choice Homes Oldham are 

understood to be delivering Council policy with respect to the provision of 
housing in Oldham Metropolitan Borough.  If that relationship can be 
invoked for the purposes of granting planning permission it surely cannot 
be ignored in relation to the current village green application.  Whilst I 
recognise that the Council's role as a Commons Registration Authority is 
distinct from its role in relation to the planning process I would argue that 
the Council cannot be deemed to be a neutral party in relation to the 
current application for village green registration since it has identified the 
development of the site as the realisation of its own 'programme, strategy 
or action plan.'  I would therefore argue that the Council should not be able 
to exercise the power to determine the outcome of the application and that 
it should instead have recourse to an inquiry.” 

 
1.10 Members will be aware that the Council performs many different roles such as 

determining planning applications and granting licences under the Licensing 
Act and that this can result in apparently contradictory decisions where for 
example planning permission is granted for a pub but a licence is refused to 
operate the premises under the Licensing Act.  Members are reminded that 
every application they are required to determine must be determined in 
accordance with the relevant legislation and case law.  The fact that the 
Council has granted planning permission for the development should not be 
regarded as signalling that the Council is an active sponsor of the scheme to 
develop the site, as all planning applications are required to be and are 
determined in accordance with national and local planning policies.  The 
desirability of the development of the application site for affordable housing is 
not a relevant consideration in respect of village green applications and 
Members will be reminded of this fact when they ultimately determine the 
application 

 
 1.11 Notwithstanding the applicant’s objection, it is recommended that the 

application be determined by the Commons Registration Committee.  A 
proposed procedure for determining the application is set out in Appendix 1 to 
this report.  It is recommended that the proposed procedure be approved and 
also that the Borough Solicitor be given delegated authority to deal with any 
legal or procedural issues which arise prior to the final determination of the 
application by the Committee. 

 
1.12 Alternatively, if having considered the applicant’s objections set out above the 

Committee wishes to refer the matter to a non statutory public enquiry before 
determining the application, it may do so. The Council would have to instruct a 

Page 6



Page 5 of 6 Application to register a village green – Diggle village green 10 June 2013 

barrister to conduct a non statutory public inquiry and make the arrangements 
for the enquiry. It is likely that this would delay the determination of the 
application and add considerable expense to all parties.  

  
2 Financial Implications  
 
2.1 Not applicable 
 
3 Legal Services Comments 
 
3.1 The application has to be determined in accordance with the provisions of the 

Commons Act 2006, the Regulations and the relevant case law. (A Evans) 
 
4. Cooperative Agenda 
 
4.1 Not Applicable 
 
5 Key Decision 
 
5.1 No  
 
6 Key Decision Reference 
 
6.1 N/A 
 
7 Background Papers 
 
7.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government 
Act 1972.  It does not include documents which would disclose exempt or 
confidential information as defined by the Act: 
 
File Ref: RTG/5 
Name of File: Village Green Application – Diggle Village Green 
Records held in Legal Department, Civic Centre, West Street Oldham 
Officer Name: Alan Evans 
Contact No: 770 3019 

 
  

Page 7



Page 6 of 6 Application to register a village green – Diggle village green 10 June 2013 

Appendix 1 
 
 It is recommended that the following procedure for determining the application 

be followed:  
 

1. The additional evidence submitted by the objector be sent to the 
applicant for comments   

 
 

2. The applicant’s response (if any) to the objection and additional 
evidence from the objector to be submitted to the Council within 4 
weeks of the date on which the further evidence is sent to the applicant  
The Council to send to the objector a copy of the applicant’s response  
for information.   

 
3. The Borough Solicitor to prepare a draft report for determination by the 

Commons Registration Committee based on the application, the 
objection and the further representations by the applicant (if any)   

 
4. The draft report to be submitted to the applicant and objector for any 

comments they may wish to make.  Any comments must be made 
within 4 weeks for the date on which the draft report is sent to the 
applicant and objector.   

 
5. The report for the Commons Registration Committee to be finalised by 

the Borough Solicitor in light of any comments received from the 
applicant and objector    

 
6. The Commons Registration Committee to consider the report and 

determine the application. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Page 9



Page 10


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	7 Application to Register a Village Green - Diggle Village Green
	report plans


